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SENATOR JACKIE SPEIER:  Ladies and gentlemen, we’re now going to convene the oversight hearing into the Department of Insurance financial surveillance area.


Before September 11th, this hearing would be covering a very boring subject:  financial surveillance of the insurance industry.  The unexpected multibillion dollar losses caused by the terrorist attack make it clear that we need a strong, competent regulation of insurer finances.  This hearing deals with something that should concern all of us:  Can the State of California adequately supervise the finances of insurance companies?  We’ll find out today and at future hearings if they are needed.


We’re going to examine this issue by looking at various cases.  We’ll look at Superior National and at Fremont,  two worker’s compensation carriers that ran into problems in the past two years.  We’ll look at success stories as well.  I’ve asked the department to prepare to discuss a few of their success stories.  There are probably many, and we should compare and contrast.


The California Department of Insurance is a complex organization, and the position of the Insurance Commissioner is one that needs an extraordinarily trustworthy person.  Acting Insurance Commissioner Clark Kelso appeared before this committee in early 2000 and said that he had information, as a commissioner, that was highly confidential and that, in effect, a commissioner could make or break the fortunes of companies with the information they had before them.


Decisions also get made, as with the Northridge settlements, that affect the lives of many private policyholders as well.  Today, we will also examine an insurance company that affected thousands of policyholders:  Executive Life.


I want to make the point in my opening remarks that the committee cannot act as a court.  We cannot, as I’ve come to appreciate over the past few weeks, begin to plumb the depths of this case.  It is not hyperbole to describe this as the largest fraud case in the history of the United States.


However, it isn’t simply a case that involves actions of a decade or so ago.  Actions continue today, and there will be questions asked of the Conservation and Liquidation Office and the commissioner about the current activities of the department as it relates to Executive Life.  I’ve also asked the Department of Justice to briefly explain its current concerns about Executive Life.


The purpose of today’s hearing is to determine if laws need to be changed and if the current law is being followed.  We also want to look closely at two guarantee associations.  Throughout today’s hearing we’ll be particularly concerned about potential conflicts of interest in the operations of the department, the CLO, and the associations; conflicts that may impact the ability of the department, the CLO, and related entities to act on behalf of policyholders.


We are going to have to conclude this hearing at three o’clock today.  I have to attend a funeral.  If, in fact, we do not complete the agenda, we will continue it to another committee hearing, but hopefully we can get through all of this if we listen hard and ask succinct questions.


That concludes my remarks.  If there are remarks from any of my colleagues, I’d be happy to have you make them.


All right.  Let us begin then.  We invite our Commissioner of Insurance, Harry Low.


COMMISSIONER HARRY LOW:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Senate members.  I thank you very much for inviting me to participate in this hearing.  My staff and I are ready to answer many of your questions, but I thought I would give a very brief overview before we engage in the questions and answers.


Certainly, financial surveillance is the cornerstone of consumer protection.  Without a stable and solvent market, consumers are left without adequate choices for insurance service, and that would be harmful.  I believe that we have a very strong, capable, dedicated management team as well as staff in regards to Financial Surveillance and the CLO.  In fact, it is California that most of the nation looks towards for leadership and guidance on these matters.  Next to protecting consumers, our most important responsibility is to ensure the stability of the insurance market in California, and this branch of CDI monitors the financial condition of insurance companies licensed to do business in this state.


One of my priorities in this rapidly changing marketplace is to be certain that our Financial Surveillance Branch is making the most of the tools at its disposal, including the Early Warning System.  Last year we revitalized and improved our Early Warning System.  We have increased information sharing among all the branches within the department, and I continue to espouse:  We are one department working across the branches, and we are one California Department of Insurance.  The Early Warning team meets on a minimum of at least twice a month to vigorously monitor companies requiring additional scrutiny.  I personally have attended these meetings.  I read their minutes regularly, and I follow their activities very closely.


Financial surveillance is a dynamic process that includes ongoing analysis of insurers’ financial statements as well as periodic examination of these insurers, with consideration for information drawn from a number of internal as well as external sources.  Companies supply quarterly financial statements to Financial Surveillance for our analysis, and we have a dedicated group of about sixty financial analysts evaluating these insurers’ financial statements.  


The quarterly analysis is an opportunity for us to identify companies whose financial condition may be deteriorating.  This is a critical step in the ongoing monitoring of these insurers.  The companies identified as needing closer scrutiny and monitoring, the Early Warning team immediately takes responsibility to intervene and mandate corrective action from that company.  This is in the hopes of avoiding conservation or liquidation.


The timing of intervention is certainly a difficult challenge.  How do we anticipate the future without determining the future?  Judging potential insolvency without affecting solvency?  It’s a delicate balance and that’s very much necessary.  It requires extraordinary powers of discernment and good judgment.


To this end, last year we sought legislation in the worker’s compensation area to provide authority for a rate adequacy standard, changing from the solvency standard that we now have, so as to preserve solvency.  This allows us to act before insolvency occurs and before conservation might be necessary.  This proposal was not successful, but we will pursue this again this year.


The process I’ve outlined for you are the keys to our ability to identify troubled companies early to intervene and to avoid financial collapse.


Let me turn now to the operation of the Conservation and Liquidation Office, known as CLO.  Once a company does move from the Early Warning System to formal conservation, the Conservation Office steps in.  Now, CLO is very unique because, as a conservator, it’s necessarily autonomous.  CLO’s first duty is to the policyholders.


Upon being sworn in as the Insurance commissioner a little over a year ago, one of my first areas of focus was on the operation of CLO.  When my attention was directed to the administration of the CLO, I immediately appointed a new CEO, Harry Levine, and made him a member of our Executive team, reporting to me directly.  Within the first sixty days of my administration, I ordered a thorough internal audit of CLO operations, and I asked my special assistant to do a complete survey of their operations and to flag areas of immediate concern.  We found the following:

· That there was an immediate need for a CEO fully committed to functions in the department.

· There was a need for an action plan to close estates that were under conservation or liquidation.

· We needed to devise proper procedures to regularize and bring into compliance with state practices for contracting and for purchasing decisions.

· We needed to review the investment strategies for funds and trusts and fees paid to investment advisors.

· We needed a call for a formal state audit of all our operations to set a benchmark of where we are at this beginning stage.


Upon the collection of our initial audit, we set up the task of securing a state audit and correcting identified problems.  And I’d like to thank you, Madam Chair, for your assistance with the Joint Legislative Audit Committee in securing the state audit we requested.  The audit was an essential first step in moving toward an accountable and effective management structure.  I believe that CLO, responsible for the management of more than $1 billion in assets, lacked effective management systems.


The State Auditor’s report brought to light, and confirmed our findings, on a number of areas requiring reforms.  I’m pleased to report to you that we have addressed nearly every major issue raised in the audit and have completed the work requested in the audit.  And we have provided a six-month’s audit response a month early to the State Auditor, and we will continue to make improvement in CLO.  These improvements range from a complete overhaul of the contract management process to establishment of a new Human Resources policies and procedures.  


We certainly have more to do and we’ve done a great deal.  It’s significant progress over which I’m very proud.  In this first year, for example, I’ve replaced not only the CEO with an experienced, energetic attorney/manager from within CDI, Harry Levine, but I’ve also removed the CLO’s internal auditor and replaced that person’s functions with a CDI audit team.  Additionally, I appointed an outside audit committee with independent authority to review the operations of the department.  This outside audit committee is free from the influence of CLO.  That audit committee is chaired by retired Judge Ed Stern who serves as a pro bono and was a former presiding judge of the Superior Court in San Francisco.  I also appointed Karen Dickerson, one of CDI’s Administrative Branch members, a very strong member.  And a third member on the audit committee is Janet Rossman, a CPA and senior member of the Department of Finance.  They have the independent authority to ask the questions.  They meet quarterly.  They review our finances.  They review independently our operations in CLO and report to me any findings that they think need further review, need follow-up of any kind.


Another thing we did, regrettably, was to replace several senior members of the CLO’s executive staff, including the COO, the HR director, a new CFO, a new Information Technology chief, among others that we have changed in the management of former CLO staff.  


We established an Investment Advisory Committee and modified the investment strategy.  By putting the request for an investment firm out to bid, we saved over $300,000 per year in fees in this first year.


I’ve redirected the CDI’s chief of the Administrative and Licensing Branch, Loren Suter, who is here today, who has over twenty-seven years of experience in government, administration, and oversight, to undertake a review of the contracting, purchasing, and personnel procedures, bringing them in compliance to the fullest extent possible with state procedures.  And Loren Suter spends at least three days a week in the CLO office.  His work included a complete overhaul of our Human Resources Department.  


We have a new HR manual and have improved hiring practices.  We did better recruiting, checking references and backgrounds very thoroughly, and we’ve improved the ways we extend offers of employment.  In addition, we conducted a comprehensive salary review, a survey, and we’re working to bring salaries in line with state and industry standards.  


Additionally, we have made closing of estates quickly and efficiently a top priority.  It’s important that the needs of the policyholders be addressed in as efficient a manner as possible.  This spring fifteen additional estates will close and lowering the number under management to below forty estates.  


My chief deputy, Elaine Bush, and I hold weekly meetings with the executive staff of the CLO so that we personally can monitor the progress and make the required changes as necessary.  This is very time-consuming, but it’s reflective of my priorities.


We recognize there’s still much to be done, and I’m committed to completing the audit improvements.  My goal is to run CLO as a successful business that’s efficient and fiscally responsible to the public. 


Regarding the operations of CIGA and CLHIGA, I, as well as members of my staff, have devoted considerable time to both associations.  I’ve reviewed the board appointments to CIGA very carefully and have encouraged appointments that more accurately represent the people we serve.  I personally have attended several board meetings of CIGA, which is perhaps novel for an Insurance Commissioner.


CDI conducted a financial review of CIGA.  This was the first that’s been done in over ten years.  And I regularly meet with Larry Mulryan, the director of CIGA.  


While CIGA and CLHIGA are similar in purpose, there are key differences in their functions and their authority, and we are giving both associations our very close attention.  I’ve met with the CLHIGA director, Peter Leonard, and their chief counsel, James Jackson, to review the association’s annual report.  Within CDI we’ve established a CLHIGA Task Force focused on improving our working relations with that association, and just recently we have begun a financial review of CLHIGA’s operations.


So, in closing, I want to assure this committee that we are doing the work and making the changes deliberately, carefully, and, I believe, correctly.  One of the primary objectives is to improve the operation of Financial Surveillance and the CLO Branch, and you have my personal commitment towards that improvement objective.


I want to thank you, and I would like to invite Harry Levine and Norris Clark to join me to answer any questions that you may have.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Thank you.  Insurance Commissioner, on behalf of the committee, we want to thank you for cutting short your meeting with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners to be able to join us this afternoon.  We appreciate that.


Let’s start with Financial Surveillance first.  I guess the threshold question is:  Are there any insurers that are going to fail as a result of the attacks on September 11th?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Our indications are that there are not.  There were a few, like Reliance, that were teetering and then they are now in insolvency.  Even our most recent information about companies that are heavily engaged in the World Trade Center events; none of them note a significant number.  In fact, I don’t believe there are any other than the one that I mentioned – Reliance – are on the verge of going into insolvency.  Even the reinsurance market, to our surprise, even though it’s precarious, it is not yet in a condition to say that rates have radically changed.


Norris, do you have something more you could add to that?


MR. NORRIS CLARK:  Just clarifying on Reliance – Pennsylvania, when they put the company into liquidation – Reliance was already in rehabilitation at the time of the World Trade Center and they didn’t really have exposures to that.  But the Pennsylvania Department suggested that that event had caused reinsurers to slow down payments to such an extent that they would not be able to rehabilitate Reliance, and that’s why they made the decision to put it into liquidation.


And with regards to the availability of reinsurance, at this point, again, I agree with the commissioner.  I think there was some initial concerns that that market would dry up.  Coverage appears to be available, albeit there are some exclusions and there are some price hikes particularly in certain areas.  But that’s kind of anecdotal information.


The NAIC Reinsurance Task Force is going to have a hearing in Washington, D.C. next week to get testimony from reinsurers about the availability of reinsurance and the types of exclusions and pricing that’s going on.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner, would you say that the financial surveillance function in your department is the most critical, second most critical, third most critical function?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I would say it is part of what I – if I were to put priorities, I would say my first priority is consumer protection.  That’s what I’ve espoused over and over again.  And the second is to maintain a healthy, stable insurance market, as the second priority.  But the two go together because if our financial surveillance isn’t well done, isn’t vigorously pursued, then certainly if there is a catastrophe, if there’s a series of financial events that cause a demand on these companies and they can’t pay, that would certainly greatly harm consumers.  And so, the two go together, and I would put them either one and two or as the two top priorities of our activities.


SENATOR SPEIER:  In the backgrounder that was provided to the committee by the staff, it references that this particular branch has about 8 percent of DOI’s budget and about 14 percent of its personnel.


Would you describe that as reflective of having it be the number one and two priority?  Do we need more money in that department?  Do we need more staff in that department?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think that we have adequate staff, keeping in mind that one-third of our personnel deals with fraud investigations.  A high percentage deal with consumer affairs.  To say 14 percent, 8 percent, I think it is adequate.  


What I have found, in taking over the Department of Insurance, is that certain departments just needed new vigor, new esprit de corps, new encouragement – for example, our Licensing Department.  Using the same personnel, it was able to cut back a great deal of the backlog and move the licensing process much quicker.  Using technology and new tools, we were able to use the same resources and do things better and more efficiently.


Certainly, we can do better in training, keeping up with the latest in audits, encouraging continuing education, encouraging use of technology, so we could do these, say, quarterly audits by email and so forth.  Those kind of things we are exploring, and I think that, given the same amount of personnel we have, we could probably do a very good job.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you think you have an adequate number of auditors and/or accountants.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think it’s fair to say that we do have an adequate number.  We could probably use more, but we have not requested more.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you have adequate law, statutory authority, to prevent financial failures?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Well, as I alluded to on the worker’s comp, we had proposed an adequacy standard in setting worker’s comp rates.  The current standard of solvency, you can only say your rates are inadequate.  Because you’re liable to insolvent, your reserves are going to be jeopardized.  We had proposed that change.  I think that we still propose that change, and we think that would be a good piece of legislation.


I don’t know whether we need any additional laws.  I think that as this committee has pointed out:  how important oversight is, how important this is, and to have a commissioner emphasize how important we gain the facts, we review the facts, and that the people at the top and on the executive team and particularly the commissioner use the kind of prudent judgment to get as much facts as possible before closing down an estate or selling off an estate and doing things of that kind.  


I would like to invite Norris to comment, if he wishes to say, about adequacy of personnel.


MR. CLARK:  All of my comments would echo yours.  At this point, we believe we have adequate personnel.  We did a major hiring initiative within the last nine months and hired probably about twenty new examiners.  We got very well-qualified examiners and probably the best hiring that we’ve done, in my experience, with the department.


We’re in the process of doing training because these examiners don’t hit the ground fully qualified to analyze and examine companies.  But we’re making great progress in that area.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Senator Johnson has a question.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Yes, to follow up on a couple of points.


With respect to whether the personnel are adequate, I understood you, Commissioner, in your opening remarks to have said you are looking at bringing salaries into line.  Now, in my experience around here, that means raising salaries.  So, would you address that part of the equation?  


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Sure.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  I think that the chairperson asked a two-part question, you know:  Cutting to the bottom line, are you going to be needing more money?  And so, maybe you’ve got enough people but you want to pay them more.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I would say that our salaries are now in line.  I think that my concern with CLO, and this was the salary survey we just completed about three months ago, was that there were rather high salaries paid to consultants, part-time people, and they’d been there maybe as long as three, four years.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  As part-time consultants.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Right.  And I said, Well, wait a minute.  Why are we paying these kinds of salaries?

SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, the audit actually discovered that and made reference to it.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Right.  In addition to my own concerns prior to that.  So, Senator, most of them, surprisingly, is reducing salaries that we’re doing.  And we’re offering them a permanent position or as permanent-as-can-be position and say, Here’s what our salary survey shows.  I think you’re being overpaid and we’re reducing the salary.

SENATOR SPEIER:  That’s relative to the CLO, not for the Financial Surveillance.  Is that correct?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Relative to the CLO.  But I could say that we still have difficulty finding actuaries, certain kinds of specialized accountants, on the salary that we have.  And I think that, also, some of our legal staff, it may not be able to attract the kinds of good people that we would like because of our salaries.  So, there are some areas, but we live within the state rules, and I think that we’re operating quite well.


One of the things that Norris Clark pointed out was that, when I took over the office, there were some 328 vacancies out of some 1,400 people, and part of it was because of the economy and the other part was probably because of the demoralization in the department.  I think we closed that very quickly within six months, and certainly within nine months we filled almost all those vacancies.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  And then the second question, if I may, is I didn’t really follow your answer with respect – I mean, it seemed to me, on the one hand, you were saying you thought legislation was necessary and, on the other hand, I thought I heard you say we don’t need new laws with respect to the insolvency issue.  And it seems to me, logically, insolvency is not something that today you’re fine and tomorrow suddenly you’re insolvent; that there are always warning signs along the way.  And it would seem to be intrinsic in the power of the commissioner’s office to evaluate those on a continuing spectrum rather than a clear-cut today it is, tomorrow it isn’t.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  The one piece of legislation I referred to, Senator Johnson, was with respect to worker’s comp, which is having most of the difficulties now in solvency areas; that we, the Department of Insurance, were in support of an adequacy-of-rate standard, which is a little different from dealing with personnel or salary.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Well, yeah, sure it is.  I followed that, that they’re two different.  But I hope that it’s all right if I ask two different kinds of questions.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Absolutely.


SENATOR JOHNSON:  Thank you.  And what I’m still not following is:  Do we need more legislation or not?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  The one piece that I suggested was yes, I would like to see that adequacy standard adopted.  With respect to more personnel, the answer is we think we have enough personnel.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s move on to Superior National, the largest worker’s compensation insurance company in California.  It is now the largest failed worker’s compensation insurance company in California.


At a particular point, the department determined that even though it was maybe not in trouble per se but on the cliff that it was okay to acquire another company that was weaker than itself.  Why was that decision made?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I reviewed that as best as I could.  Based upon the information that we had at that time, the criteria to be used, the judgment factors that should have been considered, the decision was made to allow that acquisition.  In hindsight, as the way it turned out, it was a bad decision, it was a mistake, and I think that the judgment used there was based on information that did not turn out as correctly as originally thought.  This was a decision made, I think, in ’98 – was that about the time? – 1998, approximately that time.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, who ultimately made the judgment?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I believe that Norris was there.  Could you tell us who was – the commissioner, of course, was Quackenbush.


MR. NORRIS CLARK:  Yes.  Well, in the normal decision-making process, and the normal decision-making process was followed in that review and that application, is that it’s a review that’s done by both the Legal Branch and by the Financial Surveillance Branch, and within the Financial Surveillance Branch the Financial Analysis Division.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Who made the final decision?


MR. CLARK:  The decision was a joint decision of the chief of the Financial Analysis Division who reports to me and the Legal Branch Corporate Affairs Bureau.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, they made the financial decision and you did not review it and make a final decision yourself?


MR. CLARK:  Me personally?  No, I did not make the final decision.  The decision – this was handled – applications for acquisitions are done through our Financial Analysis Division staff.  They have an analyst or analysts that review.  Their supervisor reviews their work, and then the division chief reviews that work.  So, it’s a three-part signoff within Financial Analysis Division, unless there are indicated problems.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the commissioner never signs off on it?


MR. CLARK:  That’s correct.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I’ve changed that, Senator, now.  We have what I call a product approval form.  All major decisions now have to have the signoff of the deputy head of the branch proposing it, the chief deputy, and myself, and then if I feel I need another name on a signoff, I’ve asked that that be sent back to someone else for review.  For example, if there was a decision of both Legal and Financial Surveillance, both of them as deputies would sign off.  I ask my chief deputy to review it also, and then I sign off.  It’s not a sure protective device, but it at least forces me to either ask the question, review the matter, and I personally feel that I have the duty to sign off on all major decisions.  And that is a process that we’ve installed since I’ve taken office.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I wonder if we need a statutory requirement that the commissioner sign off.  Here is the largest worker’s comp insurance carrier in the state acquiring a weaker competitor when it is, in fact, in trouble.  The department allows it to take place and in short order the company goes bankrupt.  I mean, if there’s nothing that requires the commissioner himself to sign off on it, then we could always have situations where I just didn’t know it happened.


I mean, I applaud you for recognizing the importance of having your eyes review it as well.  I think we should just look at whether or not there needs to be clearer requirements for a commissioner approval.


Mr. Clark, what didn’t you know at the time that that acquisition was approved that would have made you pause?


MR. CLARK:  Well, the root problem in the – we didn’t understand the environment in 1998 and it’s quickly – it has obviously all become apparent since that time, is sort of the prevalent problems with the level of reserves for the worker’s comp industry generally.  All companies.  As you’re aware, it’s not only Superior but, as you mentioned earlier, we’ve got problems with Fremont, and there’s other California worker’s comp companies that are struggling.  And that’s simply that the reserve levels that they were holding and which were opined on by their independent actuaries and were reviewed by our department actuaries and our department consulting actuaries during examinations, no matter what numbers they picked then is what they felt the level of their losses were going to be.  They were wrong and badly wrong. 


In the case of Superior, the numbers, you know, the actuarial numbers, developed out.  It’s still evolving but into the hundreds of millions of dollars short.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So they were optimistic about what their claims were going to actually be?


MR. CLARK:  Yes.  The reserve number they selected was optimistic.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, you probably have some kind of formula that you use to assess whether or not that’s a good figure or a poor figure?  I’m trying to understand.  At some point you have to be able to just not take what they say is going to be their outcome and measure it against maybe other insurance companies to assess whether or not the number of claims they’ll have per thousand workers is – there must be some kind of formula.  Is there?  Am I—?


MR. CLARK:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  If there isn’t one, how do you determine whether or not they’re cooking the books?


MR. CLARK:  Well, on property casualty reserves, and this includes worker’s comp reserves, the reserve numbers are ultimately selected by management, but they’re based on the analysis work that’s done by actuaries.  In California it’s not 

only – and this is in most states – not only the company’s actuary has to opine on the reserves but they have to get an independent actuarial opinion on their reserves.  They look at basically lost experience.  They look at how claims have paid out over the 

years – they call them loss triangles – and they make projections based on your past experience:  We believe your losses as of this date will ultimately be paid for “X” amount.  It’s not a formula; it’s part of what they call “actuarial science” to develop these numbers, unlike life reserves which are done on a formula basis.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Senator Johnson, did you have a question?  No.


All right.  Let’s try this another way.  We made a mistake.  We shouldn’t have allowed for the acquisition of the smaller company.  Knowing that now, what would you do differently?  Or what would you ask for that you didn’t ask for?  Or how would you assess their reserve differently?


MR. CLARK:  We gave this question some thought in advance.  Basically, the merger of two worker’s comp-only companies in California, probably regardless of their financial status, we would probably not approve.  Given the environment is so uncertain as to ultimate reserves, that I don’t think there’s enough protections that we could build into a deal to approve it.


In the case of Superior National, a quick fix, and again, the seller and 

probably – I’ve asked myself the question – is it would have been easier to simply require the seller in that instance to say:  “You cannot do the deal unless the seller gives you an unconditional guarantee of the losses as of the date of acquisition.  So, if there’s any further development beyond the number that you’ve booked as of acquisition, you go back to them and pay.”  And we would have analyzed that seller’s ability to fulfill the guarantee.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, normally you require a deposit – the department requires a deposit?  Is that correct?  To do worker’s comp.


MR. CLARK:  You’re referring to the – yes, the law requires that worker’s comp reserves be backed by a deposit or surety bonds.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or surety bonds.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Either/or.


MR. CLARK:  Or a combination thereof, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, in this case, the deposit was surety bond only?


MR. CLARK:  No.  It was a combination.


SENATOR SPEIER:  It was a combination.  Was there a problem with this bond?


MR. CLARK:  The surety bond met the requirements of the statute and met the requirements of form as required by the department.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Mr. Mulryan, are you in the audience?  Could you come up and explain, from your perspective, what was wrong with that bond?


MR. LARRY MULRYAN:  The problem we were having, Senator, is that by the time—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Could you identify yourself?


MR. MULRYAN:  I’m sorry.  I’m Larry Mulryan, the executive director of the California Insurance Guarantee Association.


Senator, by the time the company was liquidated, two things had happened:  One, the amount of the deposit was quite low that was left.  And second, about 80 percent of it was in surety.  It was a small amount in securities, and we of the Guarantee Fund received the proceeds of that.  But the problem with the bond portion is that the companies that have issued the bonds have taken the position that because the law is not very well written in this area – and this area does need improvement – they’re saying that we, the Guarantee Fund, have to prove how we spend every nickel.  We’re currently – I’ll just say what we’re doing – we’re currently – although we spent $600 million of CIGA assets on Superior, they’re still contesting that we haven’t proved to them adequately that these funds should tap that surety obligation.  That’s the problem with it.  I say it was the amount and the fact that it was in surety.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, of their deposit, the vast majority was in surety and not in—


MR. MULRYAN:  In securities.  Or cash.  By the time it got to us, that’s the way it was.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What was the percentages?


MR. MULRYAN:  I think the total deposit was about 95 million, and I think about 80-plus was in surety.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  I think what we need to do is, Mr. Norris and to you, Commissioner, we need to find out at the time of the acquisition what was the combination of deposit – how much in bond, how much in surety – to get a better handle – I mean, how much in bond and how much in securities to get a better handle of what – do you happen to know that?


MR. CLARK:  I don’t know off the top of my head.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  We’ll get it to you in forty-eight hours, Senator.


MR. CLARK:  Yes, I was going to say I think we can get that.  I’m not promising.  I’m not sure if we have the records.  But I would clarify that at the time the company was placed into – because I did go back and revisit this after I was questioned about it last year – at the time of conservation, there was $270 million of deposits and the same 90 to 95 million dollars of surety bonds.  So, the difference is, as Mr. Mulryan has suggested, is between the date of conservation and the date of liquidation.  The deposits were drawn down to pay claims during the conservation period.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, was the company not turned over to CIGA soon enough?  If, in fact, all those funds were expended in the interim?


MR. CLARK:  In hindsight, and this would be my own personal opinion – I’ve not talked with the commissioner – is that yes, we probably – there was too much hope placed in being able to rehabilitate the company in conservation, and it may have extended that to liquidation a little too long.  But that’s just my own personal opinion in hindsight.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And your opinion?


MR. MULRYAN:  I agree.


SENATOR SPEIER:  That it should have been turned over sooner?


MR. MULRYAN:  I think we could have contained the outflow better if we’d had it earlier.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


Let’s move on to Fremont.  Is it in conservation now?  Fremont Insurance.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  No, it’s not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is the status of Fremont?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  What we’ve done with Fremont is to install, and in fact, our own CEO, although we call him a special deputy, and everything is being monitored very closely almost on a daily basis with whatever Fremont is doing.  We think that there’s a potential that Fremont can be rehabilitated, need not go into conservation or liquidation.  It is hanging onto its business and operations as best as it can, although it’s losing some portion of the market which may cause it more difficulties.  But we don’t believe it’s necessary to push that into conservation or liquidation yet.  But that’s what’s happening to it.


Generally, we think the reserves are adequate and the reinsurance is adequate, if there were, let’s say, a runoff of the company to pay off all clients.  Is that a pretty fair statement?


MR. CLARK:  At this point.  And we are waiting for the final year-end numbers.  But, as the commissioner says, we have a special deputy examiner onsite every day.  All major business decisions must be approved by the department under the provisions of the supervision agreement.  Again, we continue to monitor its lost development, loss payments and its deposit requirement on a real-time basis.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So what is the deposit presently?


MR. CLARK:  Their deposit is approximately $700 million at this point, and it’s, I believe, all in securities; does not contain any surety bonds.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Mulryan, how does that sound to you?


MR. MULRYAN:  Senator, the way I look at that is, and I’m not – I don’t have the ability to look at the Fremont books and know what their total liability is.  From CIGA’s standpoint, as you’ve heard us speak before, we’re up to here or here right now in our obligations and we can’t afford to take anything more that’s unfunded.  And Mr. Clark and I talk about this quite a bit.  I think the deposit has to, for the protection of the public and our ability to curb these obligations, has to stay at a level at least equal to the accurately projected liabilities in that area.  Nothing to do with premium, nothing to do with writings, but the obligation that is now Fremont’s, and if it’s liquidated it’ll become ours.  


So, that’s the formula I think has to be used, and I think that’s the formula that Mr. Clark and the department is employing.  That’s the key thing for us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, you believe that the deposit is adequate to cover the liabilities of Fremont right now.


MR. CLARK:  At this point and based on the information we have, which is current information, yes.  And if our opinion changes on that based on new information, we will act immediately.  In fact, under the provisions of the supervision order, both the company and the company’s owners agreed that they would not contest a conservation order if we made the decision that it had to be conserved.  So, we are poised to intervene immediately if the deposit or any other problems come up that we lose our comfort that this company can continue on its own.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, once in conservation, do you immediately move it to CIGA or do you hold it?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  It just goes into either conservation or liquidation.  If it’s liquidation, if the assets are inadequate, then, of course, CIGA will be asked to pick up the ongoing liability.  But in the case of Fremont, if we felt that it was starting to slide further into inadequate reserves, we would take it over and then either run it off, and if our projections our correct, the reserves would be adequate and it would not reach CIGA.  CIGA would, of course, closely watch it and make sure that they don’t get that burden.  But this is what happens.


We have fifty estates.  We’re running those estates off.  None of them, other than the ones already in CIGA, will likely go to CIGA.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  So, in conservation what really happens is no new policies can be issued and old policies lapse?  Is that true?


MR. HARRY LEVINE:  We have the discretion to run as much of the company or as little as you please.  That’s what the code provides.  Typically, we don’t write new policies – we can’t ______________ – and have stopped running new policies on its own.  And then we let policies lapse typically.  It depends on whether or not you think there’s a chance to rehabilitate the company, and you need to have that policy able to base their – as an asset for someone else to come in and take over in a rehabilitation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Could you identify yourself for the record?


MR. LEVINE:  Oh, I’m sorry.  I’m Harry Levine.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Let’s talk about a success story.  Do you have one?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Would you like to enumerate a few?


MR. CLARK:  We’ve had some, and at the risk of jeopardizing or casting aspersions on companies that had problems that were resolved without the world knowing—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, wait a minute.  You are a public department.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So—


MR. CLARK:  Well, I think probably the – I think the one that had the worst problem in the 1990s that is an ongoing viable company now is Twentieth Century, now called Twenty-First Century.  As of January the 17th, 1994,  unbeknownst to everybody, that company went from a company with about $550 million of policyholder surplus to a company with a deficit of $550 million.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, how is that unbeknownst to the department?


MR. CLARK:  Because nobody had an idea at that time of the amount of losses that were generated by the Northridge earthquake on that company.  The first time the company was hard hit – as a matter of fact, their home office was hard hit – they took a look.  The first time they came out with reserves, with their estimate of losses from the Northridge quake, which was about two to four weeks after the event, was 

$160 million, and out of a $550 million surplus, that was manageable.  As the losses continued to emerge, as the destruction became evident, the number kept going up and up and up.  Ultimately, I believe, they paid over $1 billion of losses related to that event.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Did they ever come into conservation?


MR. CLARK:  No.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So they were purchased before—


MR. CLARK:  There was a number of actions taken by the department sort of on an extraordinary nature, including ordering them to stop writing earthquake business but allowing them to continue writing homeowner’s, even though there was a requirement, as there is now, that if you offer homeowner’s you have to offer earthquake.  There was continual review of the numbers.  Controversial at the time, the company had also been found having obligation on their – Prop. 103 rollbacks had been adjudicated around that time.  The department entered to an agreement based on development of earthquake that they would agree to reduce the Prop. 103 rollback to save money from the rollback to pay claims.  Stabilize the situation sufficiently so that the new owner did come through and invest a lot of money.  American International Group made a sizable investment in the company, and the combination of all those factors saved a company that was very insolvent and, as I said, made it a very successful enterprise today.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Had it not been sold, it would have come into conservation at some point.


MR. CLARK:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  With very little in terms of reserve.  Correct?


MR. CLARK:  Yeah, it would have had a deficit.  You’re correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What have you learned from that experience?


MR. CLARK:  Well, again—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you look at the portfolio of insurance that’s offered by a carrier and where they’re placing their emphasis to determine whether or not they can sustain a hit?


MR. CLARK:  Yes, we’ve certainly attempted to gather that information.  One of the projects that was undertaken was trying, particularly in California, of getting companies to identify in some coherent sense their geographical risk exposure.  Clearly, in the case of Twentieth Century it was something that the science at that time and their consultants had never identified as how concentrated their property risks were in the San Fernando Valley.  And, in fact, they had run that business on the basis of calculating probable maximum losses and having their reinsurance consultants evaluate that so that they felt that they were adequately covered with their catastrophe reinsurance.  They missed badly, as did at that point the department’s – they filled out the department’s Probable Maximum Loss Report and didn’t indicate any issues either.  


Of course, the insurance companies and experts have told us since that time that was an extreme amount of damage from a quake of that magnitude in that area, so it may have been a fluke.  But we don’t count on those things anymore.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  Let’s move on now to the Conservation and Liquidation Office. 


Mr. Levine, the office is made up of nonstate employees.  Is that correct?


MR. LEVINE:  That’s correct, with the exception of myself and Loren Suter.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you believe that that’s appropriate?


MR. LEVINE:  Yes, I do believe it’s appropriate.  We canvassed the other states that have liquidation operations, and I think with one or two exceptions, they’re all run in the same fashion.  And I think the reason is because when you have an insolvency, you may need to expand your staff rather rapidly to get experts in claims and reinsurance and other areas, and then when you close an estate, do you downsize?  So I think it is appropriate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I would disagree with you.  I think they should be state employees.  They could be at-will employees, but I think they should be state employees.


MR. LEVINE:  I should clarify my comment because I agree with you.  I guess I was thinking state employee – I think of myself.  I’ve been a state employee for twelve years and I think civil service and civil service rules.  But at-will, I would agree.  I think an at-will employment arrangement would be perfectly workable.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Let’s talk about Executive Life.  The department filed a lawsuit against the French bank Credit Lyonnais in 1999, alleging that the bank had committed fraud through its secret agreement that facilitated the successful bid.  Subsequently, the department has made an agreement with Leon Black.  Can you tell us who Leon Black is first?


MR. LEVINE:  My understanding is Leon Black was in charge of Mergers and Acquisitions, I believe, for Drexel Burnham Lambert, and he was later part of something called Apollo – Apollo Group – and Apollo was working with the French entities that eventually bought the bonds from ELIC, and they also facilitated the setting up of Aurora, which is the company that took the policies from ELIC.  So Leon Black is part of that group.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, in your opinion, was he free of any wrongdoing?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, we haven’t found any evidence that – yes, so far, and we’ve done an extensive investigation over these two years and gotten many documents and interviewed Mr. Black and his other partners.  His partners we interviewed a number of times.  Mr. Black we interviewed once, and we don’t have any evidence that we feel is sufficient for us to bring suit against him at this point.  But, if there is evidence, we reserve the right to do that, and that’s part of the agreement we’ve entered into with them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, explain the nature of the agreement then.


MR. LEVINE:  Well, the agreement, it’s called Tolling and Conditional Release Agreement, and basically it says that they’ll cooperate with us, they’ll give us access to their documents, which they have been doing, which is helpful for us to establish the amount of profits that were made wrongfully by the French banks and the others.  And it says that in the event there’s direct evidence of their culpability, that we have a process we’ll go through whereby we can determine, if there’s enough direct evidence, we’re free to bring suit against them.  And the statute of limitations is extended to cover the time for us to bring suit if it should be that we have credible evidence against them.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, by virtue of this agreement, it precludes private policyholders from bringing action against Leon Black.  Is that correct?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, unfortunately, I’m a lawyer, so I guess I answered it a little bit legal.  I mean, if they have their own ability, their own cause of action against Leon Black or Apollo, no, it doesn’t affect them, they can bring their suit.  But if they want to bring a suit that belongs to the commissioner, well, they can’t bring that suit regardless.  And so, I guess I’d say no, because policyholders can’t bring a suit against the wrongdoers because that’s a suit that belongs to the commissioner on their behalf.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, they would argue that it’s not really on their behalf because any funds that would be acquired in settlement or by judgment would go first to another organization – NOLHGA.  


We start using all of these acronyms and no one knows what we’re talking about.  Explain to us what NOLHGA is.


MR. LEVINE:  NOLHGA is the National Organization of Life and Health Guarantee Associations, and it’s basically an umbrella group of each of the fifty guarantee associations around the country.  And they’re a coordinator for all of the – we call the PGAs, the participating guarantee associations, that were involved in the Executive Life rehabilitation.  So, when we say NOLHGA, we really mean all of the underlying state guarantee associations.  And the guarantee associations made up the shortfalls pursuant to their statutes, and so, they have statutory rights of subrogation.  So, if there’s – or when, I should say, instead of “if” – there’s a recovery in our case, they have their statutory subrogation rights.  


So yes, part of the recovery will go to NOLHGA, or to the guarantee associations, a significant part, and then the other parts will go to the other people who were – to other policyholders.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Isn’t it 50 percent that goes to NOLHGA?


MR. LEVINE:  That’s my understanding of the estimate, 50 percent.  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, normally those entities exist – the reason why we pay premiums to these kinds of organizations is to pick up the pieces if something bad happens, not to subsequently in a lawsuit be reimbursed for having picked up the pieces.


MR. LEVINE:  Well, the statutes now provide that they have—


SENATOR SPEIER:  If there are policyholders that are short.


MR. LEVINE:  Right, I understand.  But the statutes now provide them with these subrogation rights.  They’ve spent, I’m told – I have the figure of $1.8 million – billion, excuse me – to date in ELIC.  Sorry.  Executive Life we call ELIC.  And they have an estimated another 600 million, I believe, in future exposures.  I guess I don’t know what – I mean, I think it’s – well, they have those statutory rights to those recoveries.


And also in the Executive Life case, they also apparently waived some rights in exchange for the way their subrogation rights were worked out as well.  So they enhanced – there’s what called the Enhancement Agreement – and they enhanced what they would have otherwise had to do, if they went strictly by the letter of each of the actually forty-nine states’ laws.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How much have they actually received?


MR. LEVINE:  That figure I don’t have, but I could find that out.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Shouldn’t you have that figure?  I mean, wouldn’t you keep tabs on what they’ve actually received versus what they’ve been putting out?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, we monitored the ongoing operations of Aurora to be sure that Aurora, the successor company, pays out what it owes, and we’re sure that it pays up.  But no, we don’t keep track of what each guarantee association has received.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  I’m going to ask Mr. – actually, Assistant Deputy Attorney General – Is that the correct title, Mr. Ames? – Mr. Ames to come forward and join in this conversation.


MR. CHRIS AMES:  Good afternoon, Senator.  Senior Assistant Attorney General.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Pardon me.


MR. AMES:  But nobody uses that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  The attorney general has also filed an action against Credit Lyonnais.  Is that correct?


MR. AMES:  That is correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you also have an action pending against Leon Black?


MR. AMES:  The attorney general’s action as presently pled names a series of French entities and individuals and does not name Mr. Black.  The attorney general’s investigation with respect to who else may be responsible for wrongdoing in connection with the Executive Life matter is ongoing.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it likely that the attorney general would settle with an individual like Mr. Black?


MR. AMES:  I don’t think I can answer that question in the abstract, Senator. We would look generally in settlements with wrongdoers to make sure that they pay their full share of, and contribution toward, the wrongdoing and the losses but as a general principle.  But I don’t think I could comment one way or another with respect to Mr. Black other than to say that the attorney general’s investigation as to all possible wrongdoers here is continuing.


Just in answer to the question you posed when you introduced this matter, I might provide a little background to the committee.


The first lawsuit here was filed by a whistleblower under the California False Claims Act.  That statute requires the attorney general to investigate all such allegations.  That investigation, and very extensive investigation, was conducted, and the attorney general determined that wrongdoing had occurred in connection with the Executive Life matter.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let me interrupt you a minute.  Was it a French national that was the whistleblower?


MR. AMES:  The whistleblower is known in all of the legal papers filed as, I believe, “Mr. X.”  No name has been brought forward.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But whistleblower protection applies to anyone doing business – I’m just curious as to the standing of someone who asserts the whistleblower protection.


MR. AMES:  Well, the False Claims Act provides that anyone can.  In fact, here the actual whistleblower named in the complaint is a corporate entity, and he has been referred to in various legal documents as Mr. X.  Apparently, there is an individual, but it’s a corporate entity that actually filed, thereby concealing specifically who the person involved may be.


Anyhow, that investigation was conducted, and the attorney general concluded that wrongdoing had occurred, that this was a situation that justified the attorney general intervening in the false claims action, as well as filing additional claims seeking civil penalties as well as the other civil recovery potential that’s already ongoing in the commissioner’s lawsuit.  Those cases are now both before a federal judge in Los Angeles, though they’ve not technically been consolidated.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, you have filed a lawsuit under what legal theory?


MR. AMES:  Violation of the California False Claims Act, unlawful business practices because of violation of California statutory law, and civil RICO.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, are the lawyers for the Department of Insurance and the lawyers for the AG working together on this?


MR. AMES:  There is a spirit of cooperation between the attorney general and Commissioner Low.  They have met and discussed the case, and we have regular contact with the commissioner’s attorneys about various issues in the case, and I’m sure that’s going to increase as the pace of the litigation in federal court is now increasing significantly.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But, in terms of the settlement, for instance, did the Department of Insurance talk with the attorney general before deciding to move on that track?  Relative to Mr. Black.


MR. AMES:  Senator, I think because of the fact that we’re in a litigation posture here, I think I have to say that I think there’s some privileges with respect to communications between Commissioner Low’s office and the Attorney General’s Office that would preclude me from addressing or answering your question directly.


I will say to you that the attorney general was not a party to the agreement that you’ve been referring to and that it is not binding on the attorney general or the case that the attorney general has brought in and is proceeding with against the defendants involved in the Executive Life matter.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, if and when there is either a judgment or a settlement that is successful based on the lawsuit that’s been filed by the attorney general, the amount of money that will accrue will accrue to whose benefit?


MR. AMES:  There are a number of different causes of action pled in both of the two lawsuits, and in fact, there’s now a third lawsuit as well before the same federal judge brought on behalf of Sierra Holdings Company, I believe is the title, that was one of the unsuccessful bidders for the ELIC assets, a company headed by Warren Hellman, an investment banker in San Francisco.  It is very difficult to even speculate at this time what, depending on which causes of action are there at the end of the case and how the jury rules on them, what the recoveries and what the allocation of recoveries might be.  You have several considerations here.  You have statutes RICO, False Claims Act, Unfair Business Practices, which provide penalties for wrongdoing and penalized by way of treble damages in two of those statutes and fines in two of them.


Obviously, the state has an interest and the Insurance Commissioner has an interest on behalf of the policyholders in doing the maximum recovery on behalf of all of those who sustained losses as a result of the failure of Executive Life.


Those are sort of your general principles, but to predict in light of – for example, there are—


SENATOR SPEIER:  I guess my question is:  Do you have a commitment to pay NOLHGA 50 percent of the dollars that you would recover?


MR. AMES:  I’m aware of no such commitment.  We’ve had ongoing discussions with NOLHGA about the litigation, but there is no such commitment that I’m aware of.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Commissioner, I would like to urge that there be greater – I mean, it appears that you and Attorney General Lockyer have been in communication, but I almost feel that in some respects there’s cross-purposes here, and I would hate to see two state agencies pursuing lawsuits in a manner that isn’t consistent with what is ultimately our interest, and that is the consumers of the state.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  No, that would be disastrous and I recognize that.  In a court proceeding that would be a terrible embarrassment.  


When I took over this office, as you may know from the history of this, there was some friction between the previous commissioner and the then-attorney general and then the current attorney general.  I have the highest respect for that office.  There are many people there that I know, including Peter Siggins, the chief deputy, and with Bill Lockyer, who I’ve had a good relation with for many, many years.  


One of the first things I did was to say, We’re going to do our best to collaborate, get along.  We’re going to use you whenever we can.  We’re not going to hire outside counsel.  But there were some things that were set in place that we need to get over.  On occasion we still have some differences, but they’re intellectual differences; differences perhaps of views of our assessment of the case.  Some even may be differences in tactics.  But whenever anything happens, I try to pick up the phone and at least call Peter Siggins and say, This is what we’re going to do.  If there’s anything that you want us to review.  


There may have been a slight slipup in the past, and I want to overcome that.  I don’t want us to be in any way appearing either in public or even in this litigation to be in conflict.  I think that would be disastrous, and I certainly recognize that.  We’re working on that, and hopefully, we will continue to collaborate.  There may still be differences in the views on the tactics, but we’re trying to avoid that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  


As I understand it, when a plan was developed in Executive Life, it was taken to a court for approval.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Um hum.


SENATOR SPEIER:  My understanding also is that while you have a court-approved plan, that does not mean that you had a judge pour over documents for six to eight months, bring in experts to evaluate whether or not this plan is good, bad, or indifferent.  Is that a fair assessment?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think that’s a fair assessment, although it depends upon the judge, of course.  If I were to use some parallels, drawing from my previous judicial experience, when I occasionally sat in probate, you would have a judge that would pour over the fee request, pour over the documents, ask that they be reviewed very carefully, realizing that the decedent’s estate frequently and the heirs did not have the power or the inclination to do this.  And if you felt that you had a duty to look these things over carefully, you did that or you asked for more time.  You asked for review by someone else.  


I do admit that the commissioner, by virtue of the aura of authority that he may bring in the court, can say, “We’ve gone through this, Your Honor, and please rubberstamp this,” and sometimes a judge will do that.  But a conscientious judge will generally review that.  


How you can require this conscientious review, I don’t know whether you could or how you could impose legislation on that.  I do know that good probate jurisdictions now have officers that will be kind of like commissioners for the judge that will spend the time to review the documents and review them very, very carefully; because there were scandals and there certainly were scandals in the Bay Area in the past involving the probate estate.  I draw upon that experience as perhaps in this case, in hindsight certainly, the review was inaccurate or lacking.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Knowing full well that court calendars are full, that this is extraordinarily complex – I mean, it’s taken ten years for us to uncover that there was a fraud and that by virtue of a whistleblower.  Had the whistleblower not come forward, who would know whether or not we’d know today?  But with all of that and with the recognition that a judge is in a position of having to do many things, the likelihood of them taking the thoughtful review by the Insurance Commissioner being adequate, it seems to me that we’ve got to expect that it’s going to be more of a ministerial function that the court is going to employ.  What can we do?


Now, you’ve created an audit committee.  Is that something we should create statutorily so that there is some kind of review?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Well, I’m experimenting with this, and I guess to some degree I was fortunate that I could recruit a person such as Judge Ed Stern, who will donate his time, who is a very thoughtful, analytical judge who had sat in probate and law and motion, to serve me pro bono.  And I want to make sure that it really works before I would recommend to you that this take place.  And of course, having a member from the Department of Finance and one from the Department of Corporations is also a help.  


But it’s almost like saying to a person who has broad discretion for approval or nonapproval, “Well, we want somebody to kind of look over what you do to make sure you do it with a lot of thought.”  And as I tried to say at the beginning in my prepared remarks, trying to predict the future to try to interfere and avoid insolvency without creating insolvency is a very difficult task and does require careful analysis and good judgment.  We can see that, I think, just from Enron and many others, that sometimes the responsibility that is imposed on officers of corporations and directors of corporations, high fiduciary responsibilities, are just not carried out.  


I don’t quite know how we can impose that responsibility either on Department of Corporations – I mean, Department of Insurance’s commissioner or on the court.  Although, I suppose if you could have legislation that in these matters the court is empowered to do this and charge the expenses to the parties, I might encourage that.  But you could quite easily have a judge, as you say, who’s busy, who’s less interested, who wrongly puts overemphasis on the recommendation of the commissioner who, at that time, may have had adequate analysis but it just turned out wrong.  But how to pick that up is, I would say, an extremely difficult matter to impose by way of legislation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.  But I think it’s important for us to appreciate that court approval of a plan in and of itself is not necessarily commensurate with a fully studied evaluation that I think many people presume it is.


We’ve been told that 90 percent of the Executive Life policyholders received 100 percent of their policy return.  Now, that’s kind of hard for me to – I’m not into new math, but it’s hard for me to understand how that can be the case when we’re hearing that people are receiving half as much as what their policy had provided.


Could you explain that to us?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, it’s my understanding that there are two categories in Executive Life:  You could opt into the rehabilitation plan or opt out.  And they did a number of things.  If you opted out, I understand you received 93 percent of what’s called their Conservation Date Statutory Reserves.  Basically, they had to come up with a base to determine how to value all the different policies.  ELIC wrote a lot of annuities, pension plan instruments, and life policies.  So, they reset the reserves and they reset using current interest rates in 1991.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay, “reset” is a lovely term, but what you’re really saying is reduce.  Is that correct?


MR. LEVINE:  Yes, it did work a reduction.  They took the assets they had and they decided they would match the existing assets with liabilities, which a life company is required to do by statute in any case, and they used the April 1991 values.  And that had the effect of reducing interest rates, yes, and reducing values.  So when we say they received 90 percent – 93 percent for the opt-outs – it’s 93 percent of that April 11th recalculated value.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Which was at the point of insolvency, correct?


MR. LEVINE:  Well, the company was insolvent, but no, I believe it’s – for some reason, 73 percent is sticking in my mind.  I’m not sure if I’ve got two different numbers confused.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  But it was not the face value of the policy.


MR. LEVINE:  It’s not the face value of the policy.  That’s correct.  But also, those people that had guarantee fund coverage, if they didn’t have a very high value policy, would have received a hundred percent because they would have gotten the guarantee association’s payments.  Now, there are a lot of low caps in a lot of states.  In California, for some policies, I believe, in 1991, it was also $100,000.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is it today?


MR. LEVINE:  It depends on whether it’s an annuity or a life, and actually, I’m sorry, I don’t have the number in mind.  Unfortunately, I deal with CIGA all the time and I know their numbers really well.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think it’s 100,000 on single life policy.  I think it’s 250 on a health policy.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is it $5 million for all parties in a particular corporation or entity?  Is that what I’ve been told?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Yes, I think it’s 5 million.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do we require that that be disclosed on applications, certificates, when people purchase them?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I don’t think so.  I think it’s a surprise to people when they find that the company went broke and the Guarantee Fund only guarantees a limited amount.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


Opt in.  What happened to those people?


MR. LEVINE:  I think that’s also the 90 percent number that you’re using.  The number that I have is that 90 percent were fully covered by the guarantee association.  So, 90 percent by number but not by value.  So, if you take the number of policies – the distinction being those people that have very high value policies received a lot less of the total.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, if you had a $500,000 policy, you’d receive $100,000, or maybe you got $80,000, or $90,000.  You got 90 percent of what the guaranteed policy was, not what your policy was.


MR. LEVINE:  That’s right.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  One of the concerns I have about the CLO in history is that it was a wonderful opportunity for then-Insurance commissioner to hire friends as attorneys, as accountants, and as trustees.  I want to see us change that.  And I think one of the ways of changing that would be to allow for the hiring of outside counsel but requiring that they be supervised by the attorney general.


Now, what do you think about that idea?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I personally would find that acceptable, and I have installed this state contracting type procedures for all contracts.  This is what Loren Suter is working on, and we’re doing that now.  I’ve also made it clear to all my staff that we do hire the attorney – or use the attorney general first.  That’s our first obligation.  And I think if we hired outside counsel, I suppose – I don’t know of any attorney that would really want to be supervised by another attorney, but I assume that if they wanted the contract and that was the condition, they would either opt in for it or not bid on it or not accept that type of responsibility.


But I certainly think that state agencies should use the state attorney general wherever possible.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you have a comment on that?


MR. AMES:  Senator, it is in theory and concept what Commissioner Low says:  Use the state attorney general wherever possible.  There’s a major breakdown point in that theory, however, which is that in this area, specialized area of insurance law, for example – another I might cite that’s currently in a lot of people’s awareness is energy and related areas of finance and energy regulation, even bankruptcy – these are very specialized area of law.  And given the very severe caps that the attorney general presently operates under with respect to our ability to hire experienced attorneys in specialty fields, we’ve got a problem with that.  It’s therefore really not feasible to do all of that work, particularly in the specialized areas, under our present salary cap or limitation situation.  We almost have to go to the model that you first mentioned, which is outside counsel working with the attorney general in these specialized area.  The downside is, is that’s a lot more expensive.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But how else do we make sure that, first of all, there’s some consistency, and secondly, that there’s not a lot of cronyism?  I’m not suggesting that’s happening here, but historically, certain law firms were on an inside track to get the contracts and they were being paid extraordinary fees.  I think, Commissioner, you quoted me a fee schedule for one of these law firms.  What was it?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  There were some that are 600, 800 dollars an hour, and some were paid 10,000 a month for, I don’t know how much work that was done, but just on a flat fee.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We’d all like those contracts, wouldn’t we?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Exactly.


SENATOR SPEIER:  We’ve got to build in some accountability, and I’m asking you to help us craft that.  I don’t want to necessarily see us put a sledgehammer or tie anyone’s hands, but I do think that the CLO has, as you have identified yourself, Commissioner, has been an entity, because they weren’t state employees, because there was the power to basically use the funds of the conserved company, to spend them in a manner that was really not accountable.  Which brings me to a second question.


My understanding is that there is no – very much like the former foundations of another era in the commissioner’s office – they were outside the review of the Legislature and outside the review of the Department of Finance, which, I think, also creates the potential for problems.  


Would you object to having all of that come back into state review by the Department of Finance so there can be a state audit?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think the law now requires the Department of Finance every two years to review.  The Department of Finance contracted that out or assigned that to a private auditor.  Why that was I don’t really understand.  Maybe just a historical fluke.  And that was where I said, Okay, well, why don’t I create my own audit committee and I’ll have Judge Stern and whomever from the Department of Finance, and we pay them just by interagency, and our own person with considerable knowledge if that works out well?  And they raised the question:  How much?  What is this person doing?  Are you conforming with the contract?  It’s mostly money questions that they are directed to review.  If that works out well, it might be something that might be made into a piece of legislation that would be required.


I agree with you, there is a great potential for abuse.  But I again draw upon my experience with the probate court where you had a large estate – a 10 million or a 100 million dollar estate – and people are just taking a lot of money out.  Who really cares?  If you’re Howard Hughes and you have no heirs and it goes somewhere else, you can say, “Well, I’m taking this money that would otherwise go to the state tax people.”  And I could see some of these kind of things that are going on in the past, and I don’t know how you can put in an institutionalized form of review without interfering with a great deal of authority and discretion there.


I’m playing around with this body and it’s working out quite well.  Whether or not we would want to make that a permanent thing, I don’t know.  I think so much depends upon the commitment of the people as well as the commitment of the commissioner.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you.


 Mr. Levine, I want to talk to you about Sue Watson.  Can you tell me who she is?


MR. LEVINE:  I’ve talked to Sue Watson a number of times.  I think she’s the mother of someone who was the beneficiary of a structured settlement policy that was issued by Executive Life and guaranteed by First Executive Corporation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Explain a structured settlement.


MR. LEVINE:  Well, I’ve never actually had to deal with one.  My understanding is that, basically, if someone is injured and the insurance company that’s—


SENATOR SPEIER:  And there’s a lawsuit.


MR. LEVINE:  There’s a lawsuit, and in the settlement of the lawsuit, the insurance company, instead of paying it out directly, pays out over time; you know, payment annually or whatever it may be.  And my understanding is a lot of people – Executive Life was in the business of selling those annual payment policies, and the Watsons had a policy.  There’s an owner of a policy for tax purposes, and in this case it was owned by the company, First Executive Corporation, which is the parent of Executive Life.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And Katy Watson is a young woman who is the beneficiary of this.  What is her status, her physical status?


MR. LEVINE:  I don’t know personally.  I don’t want to misspeak.  I mean, I think she’s comatose, but I don’t know.  I’ve talked to her mother many—


SENATOR SPEIER:  She needs 24-hour care.  Is that correct?


MR. LEVINE:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And this structured settlement was created so that there would be enough money to pay for that for the rest of her life.


MR. LEVINE:  I assume so, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, her mother has been in contact with the committee, and my understanding is that her daughter, in trust, receives about $9,000 a month.  Is that your understanding?  Are you privy to that?


MR. LEVINE:  I thought the 9,000 was the actual expected amount and she received like five.  But I don’t know the numbers now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Actually, as I understand it, she was supposed to receive double that.  She was supposed to be receiving about $19,000 a month for this 24-hour care.  She’s receiving about $9,600 a month.  Because she was one of those structured settlements, and because of what’s happened to Executive Life, she’s receiving about 44 percent of what she was supposed to be receiving.  


There is an issue, as I understand it, about the accounting which she would like to be able to go over with the CLO.  Would you agree to do that?


MR. LEVINE:  I’d be happy to meet with her.  Absolutely.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Okay.


Let me see if there’s anymore questions to address.  I think that takes care of the CLO.


Mr. Ames, did you have any further comments you wanted to make?


MR. AMES:  Nothing, Senator.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right, thank you.  We’ll now move on to CIGA and CLHIGA.  


Mr. Mulryan, would you like to state your name?


MR. MULRYAN:  My name is Larry Mulryan.  I’m the executive director of the California Insurance Guarantee Association.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And who appoints you?


MR. MULRYAN:  I’m appointed by the board of directors.  There’s a nine-member board of directors of the association that’s set out in statute.  These are insurance companies.  Our association is an association of property/casualty insurers.  Every carrier that is admitted to do business in the state is obligated to be part of our association.  And the statute sets out these nine seats on the board, and they’re set out to represent the various classes of insurance that are part of the association.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  And who appoints the board members?


MR. MULRYAN:  The Insurance commissioner.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Now, if the Insurance commissioner didn’t like the job you were doing – not that I’m suggesting that he doesn’t, but hypothetically – could he get you fired?


MR. MULRYAN:  Well, I think in practical matters he probably could, if he didn’t like what I was doing, and probably the board, to whom I report, would agree.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Let’s say that there’s an automobile accident or a worker’s compensation claim that has a claim that’s being managed by CIGA.  As I understand it, you’re not just an entity that pays out claims; you’re actually taking on the role of the former insurance company in determining whether or not these are legitimate claims.  Is that true?


MR. MULRYAN:  That’s exactly right.  We have statutory framework that sets out our obligations which are not exactly the same as the insurance company.  We pay what are called “covered claims,” as a word of art, but basically it means we pay under the policy subject to some limitations, such as cap, and other insurance limitations of the type.  But yes, our function is both to gather funds the best we can from estates to administer claims, invest funds, and when it comes to an individual claim – as you mentioned, the auto claim – if it’s one of ours, if it’s a covered claim, we would assign it to our claims function and would adjust it and hire attorneys and enter into litigation, whatever is necessary.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, if you withheld payment to a particular provider of services and the Insurance Commissioner was unhappy with that – let’s just, for discussion purposes, say the Insurance Commissioner received campaign contributions from an entity that was also a provider – could you conceive of a situation where those claims would be paid?


MR. MULRYAN:  I really can’t.  I’ve been in this position ten years, and I’ve never had that come up.  I tell you what, as a matter of philosophy from our side, it’s extremely important for us to restrict what we pay to what we call “covered claims.”  That word of art is extremely important to us to be sure that we don’t, because we assert that defense in a lot of cases, and it’s extremely important that we’re consistent with that.  So, if we went off and paid something outside what we’re supposed to pay, besides being wrong it would make us vulnerable.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But if you didn’t pay a claim and the commissioner didn’t like the fact that you didn’t pay the claim, and you are appointed by people who are appointed by the commissioner, could you see a scenario where that could happen?


MR. MULRYAN:  I could see the scenario where the department might disagree.  In fact, that has happened in the past, where a previous commissioner has disagreed with an interpretation and has gone so far as addressing our board and our board taking a position contrary to what the commissioner felt they wanted us to do.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Do you perceive yourself as being a quasi-public entity?


MR. MULRYAN:  We’re a statutorily created association.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, it’s fairly public, right?


MR. MULRYAN:  Fairly public; particularly more public, I suppose, as we get so big.  We handle, what, 68,000 claims now.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And especially when you come to the Legislature and ask for more assessments, right?


MR. MULRYAN:  Right, Senator.


SENATOR SPEIER:  My understanding is that CIGA declined to give salary and compensation information to the Department of Insurance.


MR. MULRYAN:  That’s not exactly what happened.  We had the audit, and the auditors asked us for the salaries of all the employees.  I suggested that, for confidentiality reasons, privacy reasons, it would be more appropriate to give salary ranges and job descriptions, and I gave that, and that seemed to satisfy them.  There was never any argument beyond that.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I would suggest to you that, from my perspective, speaking as only one member of the Senate, that because you are created statutorily, you have an obligation to be public in terms of disclosing that kind of information, in part because we’re going out to the business community and expecting them to pay higher assessments and they’re expecting a level of accountability relative to the operation of CIGA.  And I think you can understand that – I’m sure that’s not the case in your situation, but if an executive was grossly overpaid, that would reflect not just on CIGA but on the Legislature that created it, on the Insurance Commissioner who has appointed the members, and would not be, I think, appropriate.


Do you feel that the executives of CIGA should have whistleblower protection?


MR. MULRYAN:  If that’s a word of art, I don’t know what it means, Senator.  But there is a provision in the law that does, in effect, give the CIGA board a limited obligation to report to the commissioner matters having to do with troubled companies.  It’s in the law now, as you probably know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I think that the distinction is that whistleblower protection would provide that if – as in the case of Executive Life – if an individual comes forward and explains something that’s happening that is unethical, inappropriate, illegal, that they wouldn’t lose their job in the process, which I don’t think is identical to what you’re suggesting.


MR. MULRYAN:  Probably not.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  


Do you believe that there should be an expansion of the CIGA board to include business owners who pay the premiums and the assessments?


MR. MULRYAN:  You know, I’ve never really addressed that.  I don’t think that would be a problem.  It would, of course, require a law change.  As currently conceived, it’s an association of insurers.  It could very well be.  There are other states where there’s public members I think fill that similar role of looking over the deliberations of the guarantee associations.  I don’t think that’s inappropriate at all.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the guarantee associations vary from state to state.


MR. MULRYAN:  They do vary, and that was just one of the respects.  They vary most pronounced, I think, in the caps, but they do all come from the late 1960’s Model Act of the NAIC.  They’re very similar.  There’s a National Trade Association, which I happen to chair currently, which works together to keep them coordinated.  But the biggest difference are the caps, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are most of the members of the boards appointed by insurance commissioners?


MR. MULRYAN:  No.  The Model Act provision is that the insurance commissioner approves the appointments made by the board, I guess it is.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So self-appointing board is what it is with ratification by the commissioner.


MR. MULRYAN:  Exactly.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner Low, how do you view CIGA in terms of your appointing authority and the relationship in whether or not you think that should be modified at all?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  My appointing authority is three every year, a total of nine, and there’s categories of variety of companies that I could appoint.  My authority, I think, is rather limited, confined.  I think that the interests of the insurance companies are well represented.  Whether or not this includes the public and whether it should include the public, I think that’s a policy decision.  I’ve tried to bring a little more variety in persons and sex and hopefully the—


SENATOR SPEIER:  What’s been the gender of CIGA up to this point?


MR. MULRYAN:  We have three female and six male at the current.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think that’s fairly recent and fairly—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Can you take pride of authorship of at least two of the three females that have been appointed?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Well, I put one anyway.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Oh, one, okay.


MR. MULRYAN:  And he confirmed the others as well, Madam Chair.  He can take credit for all three actually.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  But I think given the demographics of this state, the variety of interests, it might be something that should be given consideration, that this should be a goal maybe.


SENATOR SPEIER:  You said you have fairly limited authority.  How would you like to see the authority of the Insurance commissioner expanded?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Well, see, now I just nominate the company and then the company selects their representative, and the companies that I can nominate are a domestic company, a multiple casualty type company.  I don’t know what all the categories are, but they’re rather limited categories.  And then the company nominates the person.  I think that direct authority to nominate the person might be a good way to do it.  And I agree with you that maybe there should be either a public member or a, quote, “consumer member” like an employer or a business person.  It would be a good addition.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Mr. Mulryan, could you provide to the committee a spreadsheet of – or however you would like to design it – but a listing of how other states have kind of developed their CIGA entity and—


MR. MULRYAN:  Their board?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, not just to the board.  The authority that the insurance commissioner has in other states, what issues around conflict of interest are imposed.  I think that for starters.  If we come up with other ideas, we’ll provide that to you as well.


MR. MULRYAN:  Okay.  Be happy to do that.  I misspoke earlier – we have four women and five men.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Four women and five men, all right.


All right, Mr. Jackson, let’s move on to you.  Would you identify yourself for the committee?


MR. JAMES JACKSON:  Yes, my name is James Jackson, and I am special counsel, chief counsel, whatever kind of adjective counsel they want to give me, to the California Life and Health Insurance Guarantee Association.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Could you tell us – similar questions – how are the members of CLHIGA appointed?


MR. JACKSON:  Well, CLHIGA has a slightly different history than CIGA and slightly different functions as well, I might add.  The current California Life and Health Insurance Guarantee Association was created in, I believe, about 1994 by combining what, prior to that time, was an independent California Health Insurance Guarantee Association and an independent California Life Insurance Guarantee Association.  It’s all kind of historical.  There was a member of the Legislature who, at one time, had his claim paid by a – a health insurance claim – paid by the Oregon Guarantee Association when the company he was insured with went broke.  This developed a great interest on his part on such coverage for Californians.


Over the years, there had been a lot of proposals and counterproposals and so forth for guarantee associations in the life and health side in California, but generally speaking, the Model provided for an offset against premium taxes for assessments paid by companies.  The theory being, I suppose, that the state is ultimately responsible for supervising companies, and if something blows up, that it should be the taxpayers of the state that bear the ultimate—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Whoa, wait a minute.  Is that true?  Really?


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.  Now, as you probably are quite familiar, there is no method in California for any premium tax offset.  The premium taxes are in the State Constitution.  There is no diminishment of them in any manner similar to the Model Act.  I’d say about half the states have such an offset and half do not.  California obviously does not.


So, in any event, because of this tension over how this law should work, the Health Insurance Association predated the Life Association.  The Life Association was ultimately adopted, and then after three or four years it didn’t make much sense to have two separate associations, so they were merged together.  As a result, the California Life and Health Guarantee Association has a provision for thirteen members on its board.  I think there are eleven now because of a couple of mergers that took place over the subsequent years.


The directors, I think, are selected similarly, if not identically, to CIGA in that there are proposed directors.  The first association, the then-Commissioner Garamendi selected the companies that he wanted to serve which he felt covered the statutory spectrum of small companies, big companies, mutual companies, stock companies, and so forth.  I believe, for the most part, historically those same companies have been reelected every three years.  I think they’re three-year terms for directors.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I’m unclear.  So the commissioner appoints – recommends the company for CLHIGA as well?


MR. JACKSON:  That’s correct.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Is that correct, Larry?  I thought the companies selected their own—


MR. MULRYAN:  Representative, right.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  But they select their own company also?  When one wants to go off, they select the next one.


MR. JACKSON:  There is a nominating committee on the board of CLHIGA that recommends election, or reelection as the case may be.  The commissioner is, of course, notified of this and has the ability to express his views if, for some reason, he doesn’t feel these people should be elected or reelected.  But it is companies—


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I think the statute says I have to approve, and I don’t know whether I have the authority to name the company nor do I have the authority to name the person.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MR. JACKSON:  Right.  Generally, it’s companies that are appointed, and then the company tries to select whoever they feel is appropriate.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And the executive is appointed by the board?


MR. JACKSON:  Of the association, yes.  That’s correct.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Has the Insurance commissioner requested salary-specific information from CLHIGA?


MR. JACKSON:  To my knowledge he has not.  There is an examination going on currently.  The structure of the management of CLHIGA is by contract, and CLHIGA is probably, by any measure, about twice as big as the next largest state guarantee association, and I think on a comparative basis is run quite economically.  But the board, of course, has responsibility for overseeing that, and ultimately, the commissioner would have input.


COMMISSIONER LOW:  We have just begun our financial review, and we’re just now asking for the information.  So, a report probably will be several months away.  The CIGA review took about six months, would you say?  


MR. MULRYAN:  Yes.  


COMMISSIONER LOW:  So, we were gathering information, wrote a report, a draft report, and then a final report.  So, it’s a process that at least in CIGA’s case took about six months.  We’re just now beginning on CLHIGA.  There probably has not been a financial review made by the Insurance Commissioner for more than ten years.


MR. JACKSON:  I’ve been associated in one way or another with the association since it was enacted, and there’s never been an audit by the commissioner’s office.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, an audit is welcomed.


MR. JACKSON:  There are independent audits every year.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I understand.


MR. JACKSON:  We have to submit an independent audit to the commissioner’s office, but the commissioner himself has not audited us.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And your assessments are paid by—?


MR. JACKSON:  By life insurance companies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  By life insurance companies.


MR. JACKSON:  Yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  The assessments paid by CIGA are by businesses.


MR. MULRYAN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The assessments are made to the companies, and under the law as enacted a few years back, it’s mandatory that those assessments be separately stated on the policy to advise the public of the state of regulation and insolvency, and those are passed on as a surcharge on the policies.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  So, in the situation of the health and life insurance companies, they pay the assessment; they pass it on to their policyholder probably.  Is there a requirement that you come to the Legislature to increase the assessment?


MR. JACKSON:  No, the assessment caps have been the same through the entire lifetime of the association.


SENATOR SPEIER:  And what is the cap?


MR. JACKSON:  Two percent.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Two percent.


MR. JACKSON:  Mm hmm.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is your reserve?


MR. JACKSON:  It is a post-insolvency assessment, so we don’t gather up money before something happens.  If something happens, we then assess and bring money in with the numbers.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Is that the same for CIGA?  Yours is automatic, isn’t it?


MR. MULRYAN:  No.  We are a post-insolvency as well.  In other words, we have no authority under conservation or rehabilitation.


SENATOR SPEIER:  So, the one percent that you have been assessing is only at points in time when there’s insolvencies, not annually.


MR. MULRYAN:  That’s correct.  As a matter of fact, as you probably know—


SENATOR SPEIER:  You hadn’t assessed it until very recently.  I recall that now.  


So, how many insolvencies have we had for CLHIGA?


MR. JACKSON:  Well, I can’t give you a number.  I’d be glad to provide one.


The nature of the Life Insurance Guarantee Association is that we provide coverage to California residents for companies who are either domiciled here – this is their home state – or companies in a foreign state who are licensed to do business here.  So, it really depends.  Our involvement in any given insolvency depends to a great extent on the market penetration that the company happened to have in California.  Across the board, we’re about usually ten percent, ten to twelve percent, because California has about ten to twelve percent of the population?


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, you participated in the Executive Life.


MR. JACKSON:  Oh yes, we certainly did, Senator.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are you expecting to be paid back from any future fraud recovery?


MR. JACKSON:  Well, if there is a recovery or a settlement – we have paid so far about $465 million to insureds.  We have estimated about 160 million more that we will be paying to covered insureds, and we would expect to participate as subrogees to the extent that we have paid that money out, yes.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.


MR. JACKSON:  I mean, the policyholders have been made whole, the ones that we’ve covered.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, made whole ninety percent of the newly assessed value of Executive Life on April 21st?


MR. JACKSON:  Well, made whole—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Or made whole to the $100,000 cap?  I mean, “made whole” is a very, I think – it’s a term of art that should not be used in the manner it’s being used because it’s not consistent with what people think about being made whole.


MR. JACKSON:  Well, the people who were covered – covered claims which amounts to somewhere in the neighborhood of 92 percent, I am told, of the claims of Executive Life – those people received 100 percent of their pre-insolvency policy values with interest.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  That is not consistent with what we’re hearing from everyone else.


MR. JACKSON:  Well—


SENATOR SPEIER:  But that’s part of the problem with this entire case, is that there’s a lot of—


MR. JACKSON:  If I might make just one more comment, Senator.  


SENATOR SPEIER:  Sure.


MR. JACKSON:  Some of the confusion, I think, as Mark Twain or someone said, “Figures don’t lie but liars can figure,” whatever.  I don’t think it’s a matter of liars figuring, but it’s a way of looking at things.  If you talk about statistics in the aggregate, another statistic that you may or may not have heard, is of the 8 percent that did not receive 100 percent of their pre-insolvency policy values received 90 percent of those values.  But that’s an aggregate number.  Some people will have received more than that, and some people, as perhaps the examples that you cited earlier today, received much less.  It just happens that they’re in the same category for computation purposes.  


I don’t know if that helps or muddies the water further.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Well, I think the water was already muddy, and I don’t know that it’s gotten any clearer.


Junk bonds destroyed Executive Life.  With 20/20 hindsight, we can recognize that there were big problems there.  But the company came to then-Commissioner Roxani Gillespie, I believe, requesting that it have the opportunity to invest in junk bonds that was granted, and I guess the rest is history.


I’m concerned about new instruments.  There’s an idea that derivatives should be invested in.  There’s probably going to be newer instruments coming forward.  It’s a global economy now so it’s not something that you can just observe here in California or even on the stock market.  It’s all over the world.  


What should we be concerned about?  And that’s a question to all of you.


MR. JACKSON:  I’m not sure that I’m really qualified or that any opinions I have would or should carry much weight.  That’s probably a question that would be better answered by Norris or the commissioner or perhaps even Harry.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But you’re industry.  I mean, your industry is looking at engaging in investments that are becoming more and more unique.


MR. JACKSON:  Esoteric, yeah.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I mean, I know there is one of your insurers that wants to engage in the sale of derivatives.


MR. JACKSON:  Well, I’m sure that’s true.  


If I could maybe back up and make a couple of comments and then I’ll make a stab at answering your question as best I can, Senator.  I believe, and I’m not holding myself out as an expert on investment law either, but I believe that the time that Executive Life was investing in what came to be known as “junk bonds,” they were simply considered as corporate bonds under the Insurance Code.  I don’t think there was anything illegal about it.  It certainly was imprudent.  Since that time the laws have been amended so that a company would not have the ability to invest in that particular way.


Also, since not just the Executive Life debacle but several other large insolvencies that took place around the same time, the regulatory side of things has created something called risk-based capital, which is not a new concept in the banking and other financial areas but it was to insurance.  I would say that all of the life insurance business, and I can’t speak at all for the property/casualty side, takes great comfort in this new regulatory standard that is applied.  It doesn’t just speak to junk bonds but real estate, any other kind of possibly ill-liquid asset and so forth.  In other words, trying to make sure that the assets that you have match the riskiness of the liabilities that you have.  And the riskier the assets that you own, the more of them you have to have to cover the same amount of liabilities.


So, I think the regulatory improvements on the life side that have taken place since 1991, sort of a watershed year for bad things happening, have drastically improved the solvency overall of the life insurance business, and I think that’s been reflected somewhat in the diminishment of activity and responsibilities of guarantee associations.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right, but you didn’t answer my question.  I gave you all that opportunity to preface it, and then you were going to get to the answer.


So, the question was:  What’s on the horizon?


MR. JACKSON:  What’s coming up. 


SENATOR SPEIER:  Should we be concerned about derivatives?


MR. JACKSON:  I certainly think derivatives could pose questions.  I don’t pretend to know enough about them to discuss them very intelligently, but there are so-called replicating derivatives that just sort of clone themselves.  Anything that I can’t readily understand I’m generally leery of.


SENATOR SPEIER:  How about private markets?


MR. JACKSON:  Private placements?  Well, private placements certainly have been around for a long time.  Again, it depends, to some extent, on who the private placement is, what the private placement papers say.  I mean, there are—


SENATOR SPEIER:  When you’re saying “placement,” are we talking about the same thing?


MR. JACKSON:  I don’t know.


SENATOR SPEIER:  As I understand it, there are entities that will act as venture capitalists who will go out and invest in new startup companies.  Is that what you mean?  That’s what I mean.


MR. JACKSON:  No.  I was speaking about an investment instrument.  I’m sorry, I misunderstood your question.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Are any of the insurers allowed to do that now?


MR. JACKSON:  I again would defer to members of the department.  I’m not sure what the—


SENATOR SPEIER:  Commissioner?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  I would say that when we had this discussion about junk bonds, we were satisfied that these were not of investment grade under today’s standards and probably couldn’t happen under current law.


Also, I think there was broadened authority to evaluate reserves.  And so, even though it shows that these junk bonds had a value of “X” dollars, we could say that’s only 50 percent “X” because the reserves really are inadequate because this is the way we value these bonds.


And so, Department of Insurance has that authority, but I agree that there’s so many investment instruments.  And from my previous experience in other areas dealing with derivatives, which I never could understand either, and when I would ask for reports and I’d ask questions, I would propound questions, they would give me answers but I couldn’t understand the answers either.  There are so many new instruments that are out there that I find very, very confusing, and I would be very leery of expanding the powers of companies to invest in these things that so few people understand.  And I don’t think that our Department of Insurance would be prepared for some of these very complex instruments.  Before that is allowed, I would want to be assured that we have the personnel, the kinds of examiners, and have the money for hiring such examiners to really evaluate these new instruments.


SENATOR SPEIER:  What is your relationship to the Treasurer’s Office?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  It’s very good.  We sit on the CEA and I have a good relationship with her.


SENATOR SPEIER:  But I mean in terms of using the personnel and drawing on the expertise that may exist in the Treasurer’s Office that could be helpful.  Do we need to create a CEA counterpart that deals with insolvencies and put the treasurer on there along with the Insurance Commissioner?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Well, that might be an avenue, but I would say that the Insurance commissioner should really act independently and have that resource within the department.  I think particularly if derivatives or some private placement of capital or some other of these new kinds of instruments which banks and so forth are using now, and I think that given the changes in GLBA, that’s probably going to be more and more the case.  The Insurance Commissioner should have those resources to be able to, if it is allowed, to assess those things.  And that was the first question when I heard that derivatives might be proposed to be an instrument that could be invested in by insurance companies.  My antenna immediately came up:  What are these and what kinds?  They have new varieties almost on a daily basis.  For us to keep track and to understand requires the kind of expertise which I don’t think exists now in the department.


SENATOR SPEIER:  I can’t agree with you more about the potential impact that GLBA will have on your department and the challenges that you will be – or your successor – will have to be dealing with.  


With the ability to merge, have any banks come now to the department seeking licensure?


COMMISSIONER LOW:  Not to my knowledge.  They will have departments that will sell annuities and they’re in the insurance business.  But as a bank saying, “We now have an insurance company,” I don’t think they have come to us in that fashion.  They have operations which include insurance activities.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Anything further to come before the committee?  Any final comments?


I know this is very complex, and to the audience I apologize.  But I felt compelled for us to review this because I do think it’s an area that is something this committee should be familiar with and be able to respond as issues evolve.


So, I want to thank you all for participating.  


Senator Soto?


SENATOR NELL SOTO:  I just wanted to apologize.  I had a Caltrans meeting that I couldn’t miss.  It took me a long time.  So, I’m sorry for being late, but I was here before.


SENATOR SPEIER:  All right.  Thank you again.  Yes?


MR. MULRYAN:  Thank you for the opportunity, Madam Chair.  I’ve prepared some numbers and some descriptions, if it would be helpful to give it to Brian.


SENATOR SPEIER:  Yes, thank you very much.


The committee stands adjourned.
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